FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/17/2019 4:40 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/18/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97445-4 (COA No. 51286-6-II)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TAMMY JO STEWART,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE R. HUBER Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711 katehuber@washapp.org wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Tammy Jo Stewart petitions this Court for review of the Court of Appeals opinion in *State v. Stewart*, No. 51286-6-II (filed June 18, 2019). RAP 13.1(a), 13.3(a)(1), (b), 13.4(b).

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A jury convicted Ms. Stewart of multiple counts of unlawful possession of firearms and possession of stolen firearms, as well as one count of unlawful possession of a controlled substance.

The Court of Appeals rejected Ms. Stewart's challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence of several firearm convictions despite affirmative evidence that two of the objects were not capable of firing and the absence of any evidence demonstrating they could be rendered capable of firing with reasonable time and effort. In addition, the Court of Appeals acknowledged the prosecutor's comments in closing arguments explaining the firearm definition by referring to "gang-banger[s]" and "criminals" looking for "escape routes" were "concerning" and "inherently prejudicial" imagery with "no purpose . . . other than to arouse an emotional response." The Court nonetheless rejected Ms. Stewart's claim of prosecutorial misconduct for lack of prejudice. In so holding, the Court ignored the impact these improper comments had on the very

element Ms. Stewart attacked – whether the objects in question qualified as firearms under the statute.

The Court also rejected Ms. Stewart's challenge to the court's comment on the evidence that the objects were firearms, contrary to *Levy*¹ and *Becker*². Finally, the Court upheld a search warrant in the absence of a nexus between the place to be searched and criminal activity, thereby expanding the State's ability to search by effectively finding evidence of criminal activity in one location tied to the defendant creates probable cause to search a separate location tied to the defendant.³

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. "Firearm" is an essential element of both unlawful possession of a firearm and possession of a stolen firearm. RCW 9.41.010 defines a firearm as a weapon or device from which a projectile "may be fired," and several court of appeals cases interpret this to mean the objects could be rendered capable of firing with reasonable time and effort. Where the State's own evidence affirmatively established two of the objects did not fire and no reliable evidence demonstrated they could be rendered capable

¹ State v. Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006).

² State v. Becker, 132 Wn.2d 54, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997).

³ Ms. Stewart also appealed the court's imposition of the felony firearm offender registration requirement pursuant to RCW 9.41.330. The Court of Appeals agreed the trial court abused its discretion by imposing the requirement without considering all the mandatory factors and remanded for the court to reconsider imposition of the requirement. Opinion at 14-15. Ms. Stewart does not petition this Court for review of that portion of the opinion.

of firing with reasonable time and effort, should this Court grant review and hold insufficient evidence supports the firearm element? RAP 13.4(b) (2), (3), (4).

- 2. In closing arguments, prosecutors may not make improper and prejudicial comments designed to arouse the passions and prejudice of the jury, and courts have cautioned against inflammatory comments related to gangs in particular. The Court of Appeals acknowledged the prosecutor used inherently prejudicial imagery that served no legitimate purpose but declined to find prejudice because the comments were limited to discussing the definition of firearm. Should this Court grant review and find the prosecutor's inflammatory comments unrelated to the evidence unconstitutionally deprived Ms. Stewart of a fair trial where the improper comments specifically addressed the very issues Ms. Stewart challenged: the sufficiency of evidence supporting the firearm element? RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).
- 3. Article IV, § 16 prohibits courts from commenting on the evidence or instructing jurors that a factual issue is a settled matter of law. The factual issue of whether the objects in question were firearms was an element of the firearm offenses and an issue Ms. Stewart contested. Where the court's instructions to the jury referred to the objects in question as shotguns and rifles with their make, model, and sometimes

serial number, should this Court grant review and find the court impermissibly commented on the evidence and indicated to the jury the court had already found the objects in questions were firearms? RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).

4. Courts may only issue search warrants based on probable cause, which requires a reasonable person to believe not only that the item sought is contraband or evidence of a crime but also that the item sought is likely to be found at the place searched. Here, the Court of Appeals approved a search warrant for two locations where the State only showed a nexus between evidence of a crime and one of the locations. Should this Court grant review and reaffirm that a search warrant requires a particularized showing of a connection between the suspected criminal activity and the specific place to be searched? RAP 13.4(b)(3).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

While attempting to serve unrelated warrants at a residence,
Deputy Logan observed four guns in a bedroom in the house. CP 87-89;
8/17/17 RP 136, 143. Residents of the house informed him that the room
belonged to Ms. Stewart. CP 88; 8/17/17 RP 111, 137. Deputy Logan
also observed a bullet on the ground outside of a car residents told him
Ms. Stewart drove. CP 88; 8/17/17 RP 152. On this basis, Deputy Logan

obtained search warrants to search both the bedroom and the car. CP 87-91, 92-96; 8/17/17 RP 168-69, 174.

Police seized four guns, methamphetamine, and stolen property from the bedroom and three guns and tools from the car. 8/17/17 RP 155-89. The State charged Ms. Stewart with possession of methamphetamine, seven counts of unlawful possession of a firearm, and six counts of possession of a stolen firearm. CP 66-71.

At trial, the guns' owner testified one gun (Ex. No. 25) had a trigger that "won't lock into position" and was "not fireable." 8/31/17 RP 244. He testified another gun (Ex. No. 31) "never fired" and suggested it would need to be adapted in order to fire. 8/31/17 RP 229-30. Ms. Stewart argued the State failed to prove these objects met the statutory definition of firearm. The court denied Ms. Stewart's motion to dismiss on the counts relating to these two objects, ruling whether the objects qualified as firearms under the statute was "a question of fact" that must go to the jury. 8/31/17 RP 257, 253-58.

The court instructed the jury that "firearm" is an element of both unlawful possession of a firearm and possession of a stolen firearm and read the statutory definition of firearm. CP 57-62. In the instructions, the

⁴ The State dismissed charges related to a third object (Ex. No. 28), which the owner testified "never fired," in response to Ms. Stewart's motion to dismiss. 8/31/17 RP 241, 253-55.

court itemized each count and included "to-wit" followed by a description of the make, model, and sometimes serial number of the object in question. CP 56-57 (Instruction No. 2). The court incorporated by reference that description in each instruction explaining the individual counts. CP 57-61 (Instruction Nos. 4-14). The court instructed the jury that each object was either a shotgun or a rifle. CP 56-61.

In closing arguments, the State addressed the question of whether the objects admitted as Exhibit Nos. 25 and 31 qualified as firearms.

9/1/17 RP 27-35. The prosecutor argued to the jury the reason for the "may be fired" requirement in the definition of "firearm" was to prevent "escape routes for criminals" who might temporarily disassemble or disable a gun from firing in order to avoid criminal liability. 9/1/17 RP 27-28. The prosecutor used as his example "some gang-banger with a felony on my record." 9/1/17 RP 28.

The jury found Ms. Stewart guilty on all counts. CP 42-53; 9/1/17 RP 68-70. The court sentenced Ms. Stewart to 159 months' imprisonment. CP 12.

E. ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The Court of Appeals opinion disregards the statutory definition of "firearm" and conflicts with other Court of Appeals opinions by finding the evidence sufficient where the State failed to prove the objects could be rendered capable of being fired.

"Firearm" is an essential element of both unlawful possession of a firearm and possession of a stolen firearm. RCW 9.41.040(1)(a), 9A.56.310(1). To qualify as a firearm under these statutes, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the object in question is "a weapon or device from which a projectile or projectiles may be fired by an explosive such as gunpowder." RCW 9.41.010. ⁵ Although present operability is not an element, proof that the object "may be fired" is required to prove the object is a firearm.

Ms. Stewart challenged the "firearm" element of two⁶ of the objects relating to three⁷ of the charges. The guns' owner testified the trigger on one of the objects "won't lock into position to fire" and "right now it's not fireable." 8/31/17 RP 244 (Ex. 25, count 1). With respect to

⁵ RCW 9.41.010 has been amended since the June 23, 2017, incident in this case. However, the relevant portion of the former and current definitions are the same. *Compare* Former RCW 9.41.010(9) (2015) *with* RCW 9.41.010(11).

 $^{^6}$ Exhibits 25 and 31. For a summary of which exhibits correspond to which charges, jury instructions, and locations, *see* Br. of Appellant at 7 (chart).

⁷ Count 1 (unlawful possession of a firearm) relating to Exhibit 25, count 7 (unlawful possession of a firearm) relating to Exhibit 31, and count 13 (possession of a stolen firearm) relating to Exhibit 31.

the other object, the owner testified he had never fired it. 8/31/17 RP 229-30 (Ex. 31, counts 7 and 13).

In rejecting Ms. Stewart's challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the Court of Appeals confused the issue of present operability, which is not an element, with capacity to fire, which is an element. Washington courts have consistently interpreted the requirement of "may be fired" to require proof that an object either can fire or may be rendered capable of firing "with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period." State v. Padilla, 95 Wn. App. 531, 535, 978 P.2d 1113 (1999); accord State v. Tasker, 193 Wn. App. 575, 594, 373 P.3d 310 (2016); State v. Berrier, 110 Wn. App. 639, 646-47, 41 P.3d 1198 (2002). For example, in *Padilla*, the court found the State provided sufficient evidence that a disassembled gun could be rendered capable of being fired with reasonable time and effort where a firearms instructor testified he (1) successfully reassembled the gun, (2) did so in a matter of seconds, (3) tested the gun and it successfully fired, and (4) offered an opinion as to how and why the gun became momentarily disassembled. 95 Wn. App. at 533.

The opinion cites *State v. Raleigh* in support of its conclusion that the State presented sufficient evidence that the objects were firearms. 157 Wn. App. 728, 734-37, 238 P.3d 1211 (2010); Opinion at 9-10. However,

Raleigh, like Padilla, recognizes the State must demonstrate an object may be rendered capable of firing with reasonable time and effort in order to qualify as a firearm. 157 Wn. App. at 736. In Raleigh, the State satisfied that requirement when an officer testified he made the loaded gun capable of being fired by using a common tool to repair the firing pin. *Id.* at 734.

Here, unlike in *Padilla* and *Raleigh*, the State failed to present evidence that the two objects that the owner testified were not fireable and had not been fired could be rendered capable of firing within a reasonable time and with reasonable effort. The Court of Appeals acknowledged the undisputed evidence established the object was "not presently operable." Opinion at 9. However, the Court found the owner's offhanded comments that "any gunsmith can fix" one of the guns and that the other gun was "newly purchased" demonstrated capacity to fire. Opinion at 9, 10.

This evidence failed to establish that the objects could be rendered capable of firing with reasonable effort within a reasonable time. A lay person's baseless opinion that a professional gun repairer could fix any problem with a gun such that it could fire fails to rise to the level of sufficient evidence establishing the gun could be so fixed with reasonable effort and in a reasonable amount of time. The opinion affirms the convictions without any of the evidence required in the several other court of appeals cases contemplating this issue. This Court should accept

review to address this important sufficiency issue. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3), (4).

- 2. The prosecutor's improper comments about "criminals" and "gang-banger[s]" deprived Ms. Stewart of a fair trial.
 - a. The Court of Appeals recognized the prosecutor's comments were improper and of an inherently prejudicial nature.

In closing arguments, the prosecutor addressed the "firearm" element of the unlawful possession of a firearm and possession of a stolen firearm counts, specifically, the "may be fired" portion of the "firearm" definition. The prosecutor argued to the jury that the legislature intentionally included "may be fired" in the definition of firearm in order to encompass temporarily inoperable guns within the definition of firearm because it was necessary to prevent "gang-banger[s] with a felony" from avoiding criminal liability. 9/1/17 RP 28. In addition, the prosecutor argued that the legislature wrote the statute "that way on purpose, because we don't want a little minor thing like that to create escape routes for criminals." 9/1/17 RP 28.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged the prosecutor's comments were "concerning" and of an "inherently prejudicial nature." Opinion at 11. The Court also recognized the State had "no purposes for using this example other than to arouse an emotional response." Opinion at 11.

b. The Court of Appeals failed to recognize how the improper comments prejudiced Ms. Stewart.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged the inflammatory nature of the prosecutor's improper comments and recognized the lack of any proper purpose for the comments. Opinion at 11. Nonetheless, the Court found the comments did not prejudice Ms. Stewart. Opinion at 11-12. In finding the comments did not prejudice Ms. Stewart, the Court noted, "The prosecutor's use of gang imagery in closing argument was restricted to discussing the statutory definition of a firearm." Opinion at 11-12.

Contrary to the opinion's analysis, the use of the improper imagery specifically to discuss one of the contested issues at trial *increases* its prejudicial impact; it does not demonstrate the absence of prejudice.

Indeed, the Court of Appeals disregarded the evidence that demonstrated this is exactly the issue on which the jury focused its deliberations. CP 40 (jury note asking court to clarify "may be fired" in jury instruction defining firearm). This demonstrates the improper comments did affect the verdict. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).

c. This Court should accept review and hold that where improper comments directly address a contested element, the defendant is prejudiced and denied a fair trial.

No legitimate purpose supports the prosecutor's inflammatory and impermissible comments. They serve only to inflame the passions and

invoke the prejudices of the jury. The comments also directly address a hotly contested issue and are so flagrant and ill-intentioned as to establish prejudice. The comments deprived Ms. Stewart of a fair trial. This Court should accept review and hold that where the prosecutor's improper comments directly address a contested element, the defendant is prejudiced. RAP 13.4(b).

- 3. The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with the Constitution and other Court of Appeals opinions prohibiting courts from commenting on the evidence.
 - a. The trial court's instructions that the objects were shotguns and rifles were an impermissible comment on the evidence.

A jury instruction improperly comments on the evidence if it resolves a disputed issue of fact or removes from the jury's consideration an element of the offense. Const. art. IV, § 16; *State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 719-27, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006); *State v. Becker*, 132 Wn.2d 54, 63-65, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997).

The court's instructions to the jury itemized each firearm count by reference to the make, model, and sometimes serial number of the object. Each instruction informed the jury the object was either a shotgun or a rifle. These instructions impermissibly commented on the evidence in that the description of the objects instructed the jurors the objects were

firearms and removed this factual element from the jury's consideration in violation of article IV, section 16.8

b. The impermissible comments addressed an issue Ms.
Stewart contested at trial: whether the State proved the objects satisfied the firearm element of the offenses

In *Becker*, the State sought a sentence enhancement that required proof a drug sale occurred within one thousand feet of school grounds.

132 Wn.2d 54. The parties contested whether a particular program, the Youth Employment Program (YEP), qualified as a school. The court instructed the jury they had to determine whether the defendants were "within 1000 feet of the perimeter of school grounds, to-wit: Youth

To convict the Defendant of the crime of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree as charged in Count 1 [Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree, to-wit: a 12 gauge shotgun, serial #26134], each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about June 23, 2017, the Defendant knowingly had a firearm in her possession or control;
- (2) That the Defendant had previously been convicted of a serious offense; and
- (3) That the possession or control occurred in the State of Washington.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

CP 56-57.

⁸ For example, in Instruction No. 4, the court instructed the jury:

Employment Program School" at the time of the sale. *Id.* at 64. This Court held that in identifying YEP as a school in the special verdict form, "the trial court literally instructed the jury that YEP was a school." *Id.* at 65. Such an instruction "amounted to an impermissible comment on the evidence in violation of art. IV, § 16." *Id.* "By effectively removing a disputed issue of fact from the jury's consideration, the special verdict form relieved the State of its burden to prove all elements of the sentence enhancement statute." *Id.*

Similarly, in *Levy*, this Court found that the court impermissibly commented on the evidence where the instruction referred to as settled fact elements that the State was required to prove. 156 Wn.2d at 721-23. The court instructed the jury that the apartment in question was a building and that the crowbar in question was a deadly weapon, both of which were elements the State was required to prove. *Id.* The Court held such instructions were impermissible judicial comments on the evidence because they improperly suggested to the jury that the apartment *was* a building and the crowbar *was* a weapon as a matter of law.

Just as in *Levy*, where the court instructed the jury the location in question was a building, and in *Becker*, where the court instructed the jury the object in question was a deadly weapon, here the court instructed the jury the objects in question were shotguns or rifles. The court's

instructions removed the factual determination of whether the objects satisfied the firearm element from the jury's consideration and constituted an impermissible comment on the evidence.

c. This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals opinion finding the instructions did not comment on the evidence conflicts with several other opinions and involves a significant question of constitutional law.

The Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with *Levy* and *Becker* and fails to comply with article IV, § 16. This Court should grant review.

RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

- 4. The Court of Appeals expanded the State's power to invade an individual's privacy by upholding a search warrant in the absence of a nexus between criminal activity and the place to be searched.
 - a. Search warrants must be based on probable cause established by a nexus between criminal activity and the place to be searched.

Courts may only issue search warrants upon probable cause. U.S. Const. amends. IV, XIV; Const. art. I, § 7; CrR 2.3(c); *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). Probable cause requires the existence of facts "sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that criminal activity is occurring or that contraband exists at a certain location." *State v. Cole*, 128 Wn.2d 262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995). In addition, "probable cause requires a nexus between criminal activity and

the item to be seized, and also a nexus between the item to be seized and the place to be searched." *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 140 (quoting *State v*. *Goble*, 88 Wn. App. 503, 509, 945 P.2d 263 (1997)). This nexus must be "established by specific facts." *Id.* at 145. Absent a specific factual basis to believe that evidence of criminal activity can be found in the place to be searched, an application is insufficient as a matter of law. *Id.* at 147.

b. The Court of Appeals opinion upheld the search warrant in the absence of a nexus between the criminality and the place to be searched.

Police recovered three of the guns from a search of a car pursuant to a search warrant. 8/17/17 RP 177-89. However, the search warrant affidavits presented no reason to believe the car contained firearms, drugs, or any other evidence of criminality. Therefore, the police lacked probable cause to search the car, and the trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress the objects recovered from the car pursuant to the search warrant.

The Court of Appeals properly recognized a search warrant affidavit must establish a nexus between criminal activity and the place to be searched. Opinion at 6. However, the Court misapplied this constitutional requirement to the facts of this case. The Court found Deputy Logan's affidavit, which detailed apparent criminal activity (observed illegal firearms and drugs) *in the bedroom*, as well as innocuous

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