FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/20/2019 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97445-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

TAMMY JO STEWART, Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

KATHERINE L. SVOBODA Prosecuting Attorney for Grays Harbor County

> JASON F. WALKER Chief Criminal Deputy WSBA # 44358

OFFICE AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS Grays Harbor County Prosecuting Attorney 102 West Broadway Room 102 Montesano, WA 98563 (360) 249-3951

TABLES

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

E. ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED

1. The Defendant challenged the sufficiency of the evidence that two of the rifles she was charged with possessing were "firearms" as defined by law.

In relevant part, the Defendant was charged with seven counts of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree and six counts of Possession of a Stolen Firearm.³ CP at 66-71. The firearms that formed the basis of the charges were admitted into evidence. The Defendant now claims the evidence was insufficient to prove two of the rifles, exhibits 25 and 31 were "firearms."

"The test for determining the sufficiency of the evidence is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068, 1074 (1992) (citing *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220–22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).) "When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged in a

³ The Defendant was ultimately convicted of six counts of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree and five counts of Possession of a Stolen Firearm after the State dismissed one count each after testimony established the firearm was permanently inoperable.

criminal case, all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant." *Id*.

(citing *State v. Partin*, 88 Wn.2d 899, 906–07, 567 P.2d 1136 (1977).) "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." *Id.* (citing *State v. Theroff*, 25 Wn.App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 1254, *aff'd*, 95 Wn.2d 385, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980).)

Appellate courts "defer to the trier of fact for purposes of resolving conflicting testimony and evaluating the persuasiveness of the evidence." *State v. Homan*, 181 Wn. 2d 102, 106, 330 P.3d 182, 185 (2014) (citing *State v. Jackson*, 129 Wn.App. 95, 109, 117 P.3d 1182 (2005).)

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals deferred to the finder of fact, the jury. The Court of Appeals noted that, "The shotgun was admitted at trial, and the jury could inspect to determine that it was a gun in fact, rather than a toy gun or gun like object permanently incapable of firing."

As to Exhibit number 31, the Court of Appeals noted that the firearm was brand new, and the only claim that there was no evidence that

the firearm was capable of being fired, came from the fact that the victim,

Mr. Hume, testified that he had never had occasion to fire it.

The Court of Appeals did not disregard the definition of firearm, but simply ruled that the evidence was sufficient. This Court should not revisit this factual dispute and deny the Defendant's Petition for Review.

2. The Court of Appeals recognized that the prosecutor's use of the word, "gang-banger" was simply an example when discussing the statutory definition of firearm, and could not have prejudiced the Defendant.

In closing, the prosecutor illustrated the language, "may be fired" in the statutory definition of RCW 9.41.010(11), as follows:

But the law doesn't say can be fired, it says may be fired, and there is a good reason. What if I am some gang-banger with a felony on my record, who is not allowed to have a firearm. And I have got a Glock in my pocket, but I have taken out a part and put that part in my pocket, a spring, a firing pin, something that it doesn't work if it's out, but that I can just slip back in in a moment and make it work. When I walk around with that Glock 45 missing the firing pin in my waistband, and say, hey, its's not a firearm under state law, can't be arrested for it, cant take it. No, because may be fired, right? Because all I have to do is pop that firing pin, or that little spring, or whatever it is right back into that weapon and it's fully operational. It was written that way on purpose, because we don't want a little minor thing like that to create escape routes for criminals. Okay.

9/1/2018 RP at 28 (emphasis added.) The Defendant did not object.

Failure to object to a comment is a waiver of any error, "...unless the remark is so flagrant and ill intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, P.3d 43 (2011) (citing State v. Hoffman, 116, Wn.2d 51, 804 P.2d 577 (1991).

The Court of Appeals recognized that, "[E]ven assuming that the prosecutor's argument was improper, Stewart cannot demonstrate any resulting prejudice . . ." because "the prosecutor's use of gang imagery . . . was restricted to discussing the statutory definition of firearm." The Court of Appeals also recognized that the prosecutor did not suggest that the Defendant was a member of the gang, or that the jury should convict the Defendant for reasons outside the evidence at trial.

Because the Defendant failed to object, any objectionable statements by the prosecutor in closing argument must be so "flagrant and intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury" in order to

constitute reversal on appeal. Here, where the allegedly inflammatory term was only used to illustrate a phrase in a definition, there was little chance of prejudice, and the Court of Appeals correctly recognized this. This Court should deny to review the Court of Appeals' decision.

3. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the trial court did not comment on the evidence.

The Defendant next claims that the court improperly commented on the evidence when it instructed the jury on which firearm constituted the firearm in question for each individual count. The Defendant cites to the case of *State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006) for this claim. In *Levy*, the Court inserted descriptions into what is commonly called the, "to convict" or "elemental" instruction. *Levy* at 716.

The *Levy* instructions inserted a description of words used in the elements of the crime into the instruction, for example:

To convict the defendant of the crime of burglary in the first degree, as charged in Count I, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That on or about the 24th day of October, 2002, the defendant, or an accomplice, entered or remained unlawfully in a building, to-wit: the building of Kenya White, located at 711 W. Casino Rd., Everett, WA;

. . . .

- (3) That in so entering or while in the dwelling or in immediate flight from the dwelling the defendant or an accomplice in the crime charged was armed with a deadly weapon, to-wit: a .38 revolver or a crowbar; and
- (4) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington.

Levy at 716.

This case presented a particularly confusing set of charges because the Defendant was charged with six counts of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree and five counts of Possession of a Stolen Firearm, all for six separate weapons. In order for the jury to understand which firearm corresponded to each count, the instructions enumerated each count in a separated instruction, which read:

INSTRUCTION No. 2.

The Defendant has been charged by Information with six counts of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree, five counts of Possession of a Stolen Firearm and one count of Possession of Methamphetamine.

The Defendant has been charged in Count 1 with Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree, to-wit: a 12 gauge shotgun, serial # 26134;

The Defendant has been charged in Count 2 with Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree, to-wit: a J. Stevens Arms 12 gauge pump action shotgun;

The Defendant has been charged in Count 3 with Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree, to-wit: a Remington Model 700 rifle, serial #373809;

The Defendant has been charged in Count 5 with Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree, to-wit: a Remington Rifle 300 M-700, serial #S6499498;

The Defendant has been charged in Count 6 with Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree, to-wit: a Mossburg 12 gauge shotgun;

The Defendant has been charged in Count 7 with Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree, to-wit: an SKS 7.62 rifle, serial #21000 2010;

The Defendant has been charged in Count 8 with Possessing a Stolen Firearm, to-wit: a J. Stevens Arms 12 gauge pump action shotgun;

The Defendant has been charged in Count 9 with Possessing a Stolen Firearm, to-wit: a Remington Model 700 rifle, serial #373809;

The Defendant has been charged in Count 11 with Possessing a Stolen Firearm, to-wit: a Remington Rifle 300 M-700, serial #S6499498;

The Defendant has been charged in Count 12 with Possessing a Stolen Firearm, to-wit: a Mossburg 12 gauge shotgun;

The Defendant has been charged in Count 13 with Possessing a Stolen Firearm, to-wit: an SKS 7.62 rifle, serial #21000 2010;

The Defendant has been charged in Count 14 with Possession of Methamphetamine.

CP at 56-57. Instruction number one also instructed the jury that, "a charge is only an accusation" and that "the filing of a charge is not evidence that the charge is true."

The jury instructions then gave a separate "elemental" or "toconvict" instruction for each count of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree as follows:

To convict the Defendant of the crime of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree as charged in Count 1, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- That on or about June 23, 2017, the Defendant knowingly had a firearm in her possession or control;
- (2) That the Defendant had previously been convicted of a serious offense; and
- (3) That the possession or control occurred in the State of Washington.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

Instructions for all five counts of Possession of a Stolen Firearm were similarly drafted, for example:

To convict the Defendant of the crime of Possession of a Stolen Firearm as charged in Count 8, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- That on or about June 23, 2017, the Defendant possessed or was in control of a stolen firearm;
- (2) That the Defendant acted with knowledge that the firearm had been stolen;
- (3) That the Defendant withheld or appropriated the firearm to the use of someone other than the true owner or person entitled thereto; and
- (4) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

The Court of Appeals correctly found these jury instructions were distinguishable from the erroneous instructions in *Levy*, and "did not remove that factual issue from the jury's consideration." Court of Appeals Opinion 51286-6-II at 14.

Rather than repeating the error in *Levy*, these instructions solved the problem of how to enumerate so many duplicative charges in a way to avoid a comment on the evidence. The Court of Appeals was correct to find there was no error here. This Court should decline review.

4. The Court of Appeals did not expand the State's power to search; the Defendant simply disagrees about the significance about a piece of evidence that led the police to her vehicle.

Finally, the Defendant again challenges the search warrant that was issued, allowing the police to search her vehicle, where many stolen guns were recovered. The warrant was issued after a police officer, having discovered firearms in the Defendant's bedroom in a remote area, found a bullet near her car and concluded that she must be using the vehicle to transport the weapons.

The issuing magistrate, the trial court, and the Court of Appeals all found that the bullet created a nexus, that is, probable cause to believe that evidence of the Defendant possessing stolen guns would be found in the Defendant's car. The Defendant's claims that this was an expansion of the State's power to search, because it does away with the nexus requirement enunciated in *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 977 P.2d 582 (1999).

"In determining whether probable cause exists to issue a search warrant, the magistrate must make a practical, common sense decision whether... there is a fair probability that evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place." *State v. Kuberka*, 35 Wn. App. 909, 912–13, 671 P.2d 260, 262 (1983). "The duty of a reviewing court is simply to ensure that the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding that probable cause existed." *Id.* (*citing Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 76 L.Ed.2d 527 (1983).)

Appellate courts accord great deference to the issuing magistrate. *State v. Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d 91, 108, 59 P.3d 58 (2002). Any doubts concerning the existence of probable cause are resolved in favor of the warrant being valid. *Id.* at 108-09.

The Defendant claims that the Court of Appeals did away with the nexus requirement. This is not the case. This is a case where the

Defendant simply disputes the evidentiary value of the bullet found outside the Defendant's car.

This Court reviews decisions of the Court of Appeals only if the decision is (1) in conflict with a decision of this court; (2) in conflict of a published decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) is a significant question of law under the federal or state constitution's; or (4) contains an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b). The Defendant is simply making a factual dispute. For that reason, this Court should decline to accept review and leave the Court of Appeals' decision undisturbed.

DATED this __19th_ day of August, 2019.

Respectfully Submitted,

BY

JASON F. WALKER Chief Criminal Deputy

WSBA # 44358

JFW/lh

GRAYS HARBOR PROSECUTING ATTORNEY

August 19, 2019 - 5:17 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 97445-4

Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington v. Tammy Jo Stewart

Superior Court Case Number: 17-1-00366-5

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 974454_Answer_Reply_20190819171646SC915887_6987.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW - STEWART.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

katehuber@washapp.org

• ksvoboda@co.grays-harbor.wa.us

• wapofficemail@washapp.org

Comments:

Sender Name: Jason Walker - Email: jwalker@co.grays-harbor.wa.us

Address:

102 W BROADWAY AVE RM 102 MONTESANO, WA, 98563-3621

Phone: 360-249-3951

Note: The Filing Id is 20190819171646SC915887